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TO THE HONORABLE, THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ARMED FORCES


COMES NOW Appellant Staff Sergeant Frank D. Wuterich, by and through his undersigned counsel, and pursuant to this Court’s orders of January 11, 2011, and February 4, 2011, files this Supplemental Brief in support of his writ appeal.

This Supplemental Brief seeks to avoid repeating portions of Appellant’s original writ appeal with the exception of the Statement of Facts.  Because the original Statement of Facts was prepared without the benefit of a Record of Trial, it was largely bereft of citations.  Accordingly, this Supplemental Brief repeats portions of the Statement of Facts, with certain additions to and revisions and corrections of the original, to provide relevant citations.  Portions of the argument unaffected by the Record of Trial and case law developed since the original writ appeal was filed, such as the section addressing the appropriateness of extraordinary relief in cases affecting an accused’s right to counsel, are not repeated in this Supplemental Brief.
I.

Summary of Argument

Both the military judge’s ruling rejecting Appellant’s challenge to proceeding without LtCol Colby Vokey, USMC (Ret.) as his counsel and the Navy-Marine Corps Court’s most recent ruling that the military judge did not abuse his discretion in determining that good cause existed to sever the attorney-client relationship were premised on a clearly erroneous factual finding.  While the record conclusively proves that Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey was severed before LtCol Vokey retired from the United States Marine Corps in 2008, both the military judge and the Navy-Marine Corps Court made rulings
 premised on the erroneous belief that no such severance occurred.  Once it is understood – as the record establishes – that the attorney-client relationship was severed, it becomes apparent that the severance was impermissible.  See United States v. Hutchins, 69 M.J. 282 (C.A.A.F. 2011).  
The military judge further erred by concluding that LtCol Vokey (Ret.) has an irrevocable conflict that prevents him from representing Appellant.  There is no actual conflict of interest interfering with LtCol Vokey’s representation of Appellant.  Rather, there is an imputed disqualification arising from LtCol Vokey’s civilian employment.  But that imputed disqualification would disappear if the United States were to recall LtCol Vokey to active duty, as it is fully authorized to do.  And recalling LtCol Vokey to active duty to restore Appellant’s attorney-client relationship would be less extraordinary than the steps that the United States took to ensure that the military prosecutors remained on this case.  
Finally, Appellee United States can restore Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.) without any harm to LtCol Vokey’s civilian career.  LtCol Vokey is protected by federal statute from any adverse employment action as a result of being recalled to active duty for the purpose of representing Appellant.

The actual facts, when considered under the current law, establish that Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.) was erroneously severed twice.  Given the virtual impossibility of determining post hoc how Appellant’s court-martial would have been different had LtCol Vokey represented Appellant at trial, this case presents one of the rare instances in which extraordinary relief is appropriate.  This Court should declare that Appellant’s right to continued representation by LtCol Vokey was violated and order proceedings abated until LtCol Vokey is restored as Appellant’s counsel.
Statement of Facts

A.
LtCol Vokey’s representation of Appellant
On January 17, 2007, LtCol Vokey was detailed to represent Appellant.  
Appellate Exhibit XCIV at 130, ¶ 2.  LtCol Vokey was detailed to the case by LtCol Simmons, who was then the Marine Corps’ Regional Defense Counsel Pacific.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 31.  At approximately the same time LtCol Vokey was detailed to this case, Maj Haytham Faraj was also detailed to represent Appellant.  Appellate Exhibit XCIV at 130, ¶ 2.   
LtCol Vokey served as Appellant’s detailed defense counsel for more than a year and a half before he commenced terminal leave.  LtCol Vokey’s work on Appellant’s behalf included a visit to the scene of the alleged offenses accompanied by Appellant and a videographer.  Appellant Exhibit CI at 2.  

LtCol Vokey personally interviewed critical Iraqi witnesses in videotaped depositions in Iraq during a site visit in January 2008.  He alone has established the rapport with these witnesses who will be crucial for cross examination during the trial.  He walked over the ground and through the houses where the deaths at issue in the case occurred in Haditha, Iraq.
Appellate Exhibit XCIV at 131, ¶ 9.  Before becoming a judge advocate, LtCol Vokey had served as a Marine Corps artillery officer.  Id. at 1.  In that capacity, he served as a battery executive officer in combat during Operation Desert Storm, receiving the Combat Action Ribbon.  Id.  Lt Col Vokey provides this synopsis of his role on the defense team:
I believe I was a key member of the defense team and invaluable to the preparation of the defense in this case. I was the only attorney of SSgt Wuterich’s current defense team that traveled to Iraq to conduct a site visit.  I walked through the houses where the alleged crimes occurred.  I walked through the town of Haditha and took photos.  I traveled by foot and vehicle along routes Viper and Chestnut.  I studied the terrain, visibility from the roads, distances to the houses and environmental conditions.  I deposed all the Iraqi witnesses and interviewed numerous other bystanders and percipient witnesses that were present but unknown.  Throughout the period of the site visit and the conduct of depositions, I was accompanied by SSgt Wuterich who provided . . . key information and assisted me in my survey of the area and my interview of the witnesses.

I also took on a sizable portion of the case preparation.  I interviewed numerous witnesses who are located in the U.S.  I spent hundreds of hours getting to know SSgt Wuterich and his family to better understand his character and personality so that I may genuinely advocate for my client.

Appellate Exhibit CI at 3-4.

B.
The Government’s denial of LtCol Vokey’s request to remain on active duty to continue to represent Appellant
Trial in this case was originally set for early March 2008.  Approximately 14 months before trial was to begin, both LtCol Vokey and Maj Faraj submitted retirement requests.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 32.  LtCol Vokey was originally assigned a retirement date of May 1, 2008, which he understood would allow him sufficient time to complete Appellant’s court-martial, which was scheduled to be tried in March 2008.  Id. at 32-34.  In February 2008, however, after the military judge quashed a subpoena seeking outtakes from an interview that the CBS television show 60 Minutes taped with Appellant, the Government filed an Article 62 appeal, resulting in an automatic stay of court-martial proceedings.  See generally United States v. Wuterich, 66 M.J. 685 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2008).  That automatic stay was not lifted until June 20, 2008, when the Navy-Marine Corps Court of Criminal Appeals reversed the military judge’s order quashing the subpoena to 60 Minutes.  Id.  Ten days later, Appellant submitted a petition to this Court seeking review of the Navy-Marine Corps Court’s decision.  United States v. Wuterich, 66 M.J. 498 (C.A.A.F. 2008).  This Court heard oral argument in the case on September 17, 2008 and issued an opinion on November 17, 2008.  United States v. Wuterich, 67 M.J. 63 (C.A.A.F. 2008).  That decision vacated the Navy-Marine Corps Court’s decision while also reversing the military judge’s quashal of the subpoena.  While not formally stayed during the proceedings before this Court, the trial did not resume during that appeal.

Because the prosecution appeal threatened to push Appellant’s trial date past his retirement date, LtCol Vokey took steps seeking to ensure that he would be able to continue representing Appellant as his military defense counsel.  During the March to April 2008 timeframe, he sought and received an extension of his retirement date until June 1, 2008.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 34.  This extension disrupted LtCol Vokey’s previous plans for transitioning to a civilian career.  His wife and children left Camp Pendleton in May 2008 to live with his parents in Texas.  Id. at 33.  LtCol Vokey moved into a travel trailer at Lake O’Neill and continued to work on SSgt Wuterich’s case.  Id. at 35.  From May to August 6, 2008, LtCol Vokey lived in the trailer, which he was required to move from camp site to camp site every five to seven days, as he continued to work on Appellant’s case and seek extensions of his retirement date.  Id. at 35-36.
LtCol Vokey sought and received another extension of his retirement date until July 1, 2008.  Id. at 34-35.  When LtCol Vokey determined that Appellant’s court-martial case would not be tried before that date, he contacted Col Patrick Redmon, the Deputy Director of Headquarters Marine Corps’ Manpower section, to attempt to obtain another extension.  Id. at 36.  Col Redmon instead chastised LtCol Vokey for seeking a further extension and made derogatory remarks about lawyers.  Id.  Col Redmon admonished LtCol Vokey not to seek any further delays of his retirement date. Id. at 37, 45-46, 56-57.  He declared, “You’re gone 1 August.”  Id. at 37.  LtCol Vokey understood that Col Redmon controlled whether he would remain on active duty.  Id. at 65-66.  At that point, LtCol Vokey believed he had no choice but to leave active duty.  Id. at 37.  LtCol Vokey subsequently sought an extension of his retirement date not for the purpose of representing Appellant, but rather to out-process, for travel, and for terminal leave.  Id. at 37, 57-58.  That request was approved by an officer filling Col Redmon’s position while Col Redmon was away from the office performing Temporary Additional Duty.  Id.

LtCol Vokey left the Camp Pendleton area and ceased representing Appellant on August 6, 2008.  Id. at 37.  LtCol Vokey was officially retired on November 1, 2008.  Finding of Fact 2.
LtCol Vokey never appeared before any Court to be excused from his role as Appellant’s detailed military defense counsel before or upon commencing his terminal leave.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 70.  Nor did Appellant ever release him from serving in those roles.  Id.    
Neither the current nor the former military judge has ever conducted an inquiry of Appellant regarding the excusal of LtCol Vokey.

C.
LtCol Vokey’s post-retirement representation of Appellant
After he was told that any future extension request would be denied, LtCol Vokey began looking for work in preparation for his upcoming retirement.  He sent out approximately 300 resumes, but received only two or three job offers.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 38, 62-63.  The most attractive of these offers was from the law firm of Fitzpatrick, Hagood, Smith and Uhl, LLP, which he accepted.  Id. at 40.  That firm represented Sgt Hector Salinas, who was also involved in the events in Haditha on November 19, 2005.  Id. at 10.  
LtCol Vokey has never engaged in active representation of Sgt Salinas.  Id. at 14. Rather, the firm screened LtCol Vokey from the case to ensure that there would be no actual conflict.  Id.  The firm no longer represents Sgt Salinas.  Id.  
On March 11, 2009 – after the Government’s first Article 62 appeal but before its second – an Article 39(a) session was held to hear motions.  During that session, Judge Meeks briefly discussed LtCol Vokey’s status:

MJ:  All right.  Also representing previously as a, I believe, detailed defense counsel was Lieutenant Colonel Vokey.  My understanding is that Lieutenant Colonel Vokey has since retired from the Marine Corps, is that correct?

DC (LtCol Tafoya):  That’s correct, Your Honor.

MJ:  There has been some discussion that he may be retained in this case in the capacity as civilian counsel, but that has not occurred, is that correct?

DC (LtCol Tafoya):  That’s correct, Your Honor.

March 11, 2009 Article 39(a) session transcript at 2-3 (from the record in United States v. Wuterich, 68 M.J. 511 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App.) (en banc), certificate of review dismissed, 68 M.J. 404 (C.A.A.F. 2009)) [attached to Appellant’s original writ appeal as Appendix, Tab D].

During Article 39(a) sessions on May 13 and 14, 2010 – after the litigation concerning the second Article 62 appeal was complete – LtCol Vokey made an appearance as a civilian counsel.  After that appearance, the defense team realized the imputed conflict that now existed between LtCol Vokey and Appellant.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 11.  
D.
The defense’s litigation of the severance of attorney-client relationship issue

On August 26, 2010, the defense filed a Motion for Appropriate Relief to Dismiss All Charges and Specifications for Violation of Right to Detailed Counsel.  Appellate Exhibit XCIV.
  The Government filed its opposition on September 13, 2010.  Appellate Exhibit XCVII.


Appellee Judge Jones held an Article 39(a) session to receive evidence and hear argument on the motion on September 13 and 14, 2010.

In an e-mail to counsel with the subject “Ruling on Motion” dated October 22, 2010, 5:28:16 AM EDT, Appellee Judge Jones wrote:  “The Defense motion seeking relief based on the violation of right to detailed counsel is DENIED.  I will put the Ruling on the record when we meet for court on the morning of 2 November.”  On the following duty day – Monday, October 25, 2010 – Appellant petitioned the Navy-Marine Corps Court for extraordinary relief in the nature of a stay.  The following day, Appellee Judge Jones sent an e-mail to counsel for the parties with findings of fact and conclusions of law subject to further revision.  The military judge made 21 findings of fact:
1.  Both Lieutenant Colonel Vokey and Major Faraj were “double-detailed” as counsel in this case; neither counsel represented the accused as individual military counsel (IMC).  LtCol Vokey was detailed on 11 January 2007 [sic] and Major Faraj was co-detailed on 17 January 2007 [sic], both within 27 days of preferral of charges.  
2.  Within 21 days of being detailed to the case, LtCol Vokey submitted a request for voluntary retirement pursuant to 10 U.S.C. Section 6323.  His initial request was approved and his retirement date was scheduled for 1 April 2008.  Subsequently, LtCol Vokey requested that his retirement date be modified four times.  All four of the requests were granted and he never requested further modification after the approvals.  The changed retirement dates went from 1 April to 1 May 2008, 1 May to 1 June 2008, 1 June to 1 August 2008 and, finally, 1 August to 1 November 2008.  LtCol Vokey retired on 1 November 2008 after 20 years, 7 months of active duty service.  

3.  LtCol Vokey never attempted to cancel his retirement pursuant to paragraph 2004.8 of MCO P1900.16F.  LtCol Vokey did meet resistance from manpower regarding the continual change of his retirement date a month at a time, but he never sought relief from his command, the convening authority, the military judge, or any other entity regarding staying on active duty to finish out the case.

4.  In October 2008, while still on active duty (albeit it [sic] terminal leave), LtCol Vokey was offered a position at Fitzpatrick, Hagood, Smith and Uhl, LLP (hereinafter Fitzpatrick).  Upon retirement, Mr. Vokey continued to maintain an attorney-client relationship with the accused and represented him in subsequent hearings, to include in March 2010 and September 2010 in front of the present judge.  Mr. Vokey continued to represent the accused while a member of the Fitzpatrick law firm, despite the firm already having established representation of former Sgt Hector Salinas, an alleged co-conspirator in the accused’s case.  Mr. Vokey was told, orally, upon his hiring, that Sgt Salinas did not have a conflict with the firm hiring Mr. Vokey, despite the fact that the accused’s interests may be contradictory to the firm’s interests of Salinas.  

5.  There is no evidence that the firm has a written waiver of Sgt Salinas, regarding this potential conflict of interest.  Nor did Mr. Vokey, while on active duty or since retirement, ever secure a waiver from the accused concerning this conflict. 

6.  The accused has always desired that Mr. Vokey and Mr. Faraj represent him and has not excused either one from participation in the case.  However, at the Article 39(a) sessions of 13 and 14 September, the defense team asked for an ex parte hearing with the judge regarding the continued representation of Mr. Vokey on the case, given the potential conflict involved.  When the Military Judge had tried to sever this relationship with the accused’s approval on the record, the judge was stymied by the defense.  So, after hearing the defense’s request, including the desires of Mr. Vokey, the Court was constrained to release Mr. Vokey from further participation in this case, pursuant to R.C.M. 505(d)(2)(B)(3), based on an irreconcilable conflict of interest.  (A record of this ex parte hearing will be sealed and attached to the record of trial.)  Until being released at the September Article 39(a) session, Mr. Vokey had continued to represent the accused.     

7.  Within 31 days of being detailed to the accused’s case, on 18 February 2008, Maj Faraj submitted his request to voluntary retire on 1 May 2008.  He subsequently requested two modifications to the retirement dates, from 1 May to 1 June 2008 and from 1 June to 1 August 2008.  Both requests were granted and Maj Faraj subsequently retired on 1 August 2008, after being on active duty some 22 years.   Maj Faraj never attempted to cancel his retirement pursuant to paragraph 2004.8 of MCO P1900.16F.  Maj Faraj never sought relief from his command, the convening authority, the military judge, or any other entity regarding staying on active duty to finish out the case (except for the extensions already discussed).

8.  Immediately upon retiring in August 2008, Mr. Faraj entered private practice.  He formed a partnership with Mr. Neal Puckett, one of the civilian attorneys who had already been representing the accused and with whom Mr. Faraj had worked with on the case.  Mr. Faraj has never been released by either the Court, or his client, from his attorney-client relationship (hereinafter, ACR), and that ACR continues to exist.  

9.  Mr. Faraj indicated that he is not getting paid for his representation of the accused, but still represents him as his legal ethics and personal morals dictate that he must.  But his law firm is getting paid, as the law firm continues to represent the accused.  See, http://www.puckettfaraj.com.  Mr. Puckett and Mr. Faraj continue to zealously represent the accused, along with another civilian counsel (Mr. Mark Zaid) and a detailed defense counsel (Major Meredith Marshall, USMC).  The defense had not asked for a detailed defense counsel to be assigned to the case, but the Court insisted in March that a detailed defense counsel be assigned.  At the beginning of July 2010, Major Marshall was appointed detailed defense counsel.  She has been assisting the defense for almost four months.   

10.  Also representing the accused in the past, and having been properly relieved, have been LtCol Patricio Tafoya and Captain Nute Bonner.  Therefore, until Mr. Vokey was released by the Court in September 2010, both detailed defense counsel became, in effect, civilian counsel of record and continued to represent the accused.  Neither party, however, ever filed  notices of appearance as civilian attorneys in the case.  The accused never released either one of them from participation and neither had the Court until Mr. Vokey was released on 13 September 2010.    

11.  The prosecution team has consisted of, primarily, LtCol Sean Sullivan, Major Don Plowman and Major Nick Gannon.  Major Plowman retired in May 2010 and has been released from all further participation in this case.  LtCol Sullivan, a reservist, applied for sanctuary, meaning that he submitted a request for 3-year orders so that he could retire with a full pension.  He did this on 4 March 2009, some five to seven months after Mr. Faraj and Mr. Vokey had retired.
12.  The primary reason for LtCol Sullivan’s sanctuary request was personal, as the granting of sanctuary would allow him to immediately secure the vesting of his pension.  But the resson for the approval was, to some extent, tied to the letters written to Manpower by General Officers (and others), requesting that LtCol Sullivan be granted sanctuary so that he could assist in the Haditha cases, including the accused’s  case.  There was nothing improper about LtCol Sullivan’s request for sanctuary or the government’s approval of it.  Retaining LtCol Sullivan on active duty did not occur at the expense of the active duty slots available for LtCol Vokey or Maj Faraj to continue on active duty because they applied at different times and under different statutes and administrative procedures.

13.  LtCol Paul Atterbury, mentioned in the defense motion as a prosecutor, never made an appearance in court.  Major Gannon was allowed to continue on as a prosecutor in the Haditha cases despite staying at the legal team in excess of what would normally be expected in a three year tour.  There was no disparate treatment of the prosecution team and the defense team.  The circumstances between the individuals was completely different; LtCol Sullivan was trying to achieve sanctuary, Maj Faraj and LtCol Vokey were voluntarily retiring and Maj Gannon was simply left in place at his duty station to work on Hamdaniyah and Haditha cases.  There was no intent by the government to undermine the integrity of the defense team while simultaneously making a herculean effort to keep the prosecution team intact.  All of these actions occurred in the normal course of governmental business.  Retaining LtCol Sullivan on active duty did not occur at the expense of active duty slots available for LtCol Vokey or Maj Faraj; the officers were not in competition for slots because they applied for retention at different times, under different statutes and administrative procedures.  The situations between LtCol Sullivan and the accused’s counsels were divergent in status, conduct and time.

14.  Col Redmon, at Manpower, did not fully  understand the impact of the two attorneys retiring and he was frustrated of dealing with LtCol Vokey’s constant change in retirement plans.  Despite the letters submitted on behalf of LtCol Sullivan’s package in March 2010, Col Redmon also recommended against granting LtCol Sullivan sanctuary.

15.  It is clear that both LtCol Vokey and Maj Faraj wanted to continue to represent the accused.  LtCol Vokey even moved his family to Texas and lived in a trailer to continue working on the case pending his retirement.  But they also understood that there was no way to know when the case was going to be litigated for sure based on the extensive appellate litigation and appeals that were ongoing throughout 2008 and 2009.  Eventually, both officers elected to retire and continue representing the accused as civilian attorneys.  No one from the government stepped in to assist the two officers in securing extra time on active duty as the two officers did not petition the Court, the trial counsel, their Commanding Officer (with the exception of the extensions as noted) or the Convening Authority for relief to stay on active duty.  The Court sincerely doubts that either officer would have been happy to remain on active duty for the two years it has taken this case to get to trial.    

16.  LtCol Vokey took an active role in the accused’s case (even appearing on 22 March 2010 at an Article 39(a)) until he was released in September 2010 by the Court, upon a motion from the defense, from further participation based on a finding of an irreconcilable conflict of interest.  Prior to that time, he had done a site visit to Iraq with the accused and a videographer from the Puckett law firm (among other support staff); had interviewed numerous witnesses; participated in the Article 32 hearing and bonded with the client.  Mr. Faraj took the same active role, except that he did not physically go to Iraq for the site visit.  Mr. Faraj is fluent in Arabic, which has and will assist the defense to no small measure.  Both detailed defense counsel were sent to continuing legal education courses.  The original trial date this case was scheduled for trial was early March 2008.  However, the trial was continued once the appellate litigation started, which was during February 2008.  

17.  The previous judge in the case, LtCol Meeks, made no inquiry on the record regarding the excusal of the accused’s two detailed counsel from active duty.  SSgt Wuterich has never excused either counsel from representing him and desired that both Mr. Faraj and Mr. Vokey represent him.  Neither Mr. Faraj nor Mr. Vokey ever made an application to the Court for excusal or withdrawal, nor did they ask that the proceedings be abated if they were not retained on active duty.

18.  Mr. Faraj has taken, and continues to take the most active role of the defense counsel in representing the accused at pretrial hearings.  Mr. Faraj acts as the lead attorney.

19.  During the years this case has taken to get to trial, there has been equal access to witnesses, evidence and discovery.  As illustrated by General Mattis’ testimony during the unlawful command influence motion in March 2010, the Convening Authorities have sought to ensure a fair process for both the trial and defense teams in this case. 

20.  The Court specifically finds that the accused will not be unduly hindered from a meaningful defense based on the removal of Mr. Vokey due to the fact that: 1) Mr. Faraj, a native Arabic speaker is very familiar with the case and is acting as lead counsel; 2) the accused has been and continues to be represented by Mr. Puckett (a former military judge) and Mr. Zaid, two accomplished civilian attorneys with extensive military background experience; 3) the defense also has the services of an experienced detailed defense counsel, located locally, in Major Meredith Marshall; 4) the defense team has had extensive time to prepare their case due to the appellate litigation; 5) The defense team had an extra 7 weeks to prepare their case due to a continuance granted for the government, pushing the trial off from September to November; 6) the defense team has a videographer, that went with the accused and Mr. Vokey to Iraq for a site visit, who could lay the foundation for any videos or maps of the area seen; and 7) the Court will grant a continuance for any extra time the defense needs to prepare for trial based upon a proper showing.    

21.  The Court is convinced that the previous “military judge and counsel were at all times acting with the best of intentions based on a misunderstanding of the facts and the law.”  United States v. Hutchins, 68 M.J. 623, at 631 (N.M. Ct. Crim. App. 2010).

Attached to Appellant’s original writ appeal as Appendix, Tab E at 2-8.
Reasons Why this Writ Appeal Should Be Granted
A military accused has a right to continued representation by a detailed military defense counsel unless and until that relationship is properly severed.  See Hutchins, 69 M.J. at ___
.  Although two severances of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with Appellant occurred here, neither was legally permissible.

The first severance occurred in connection with LtCol Vokey’s retirement from active duty:  on August 6, 2008, LtCol Vokey stopped representing Appellant when he began his terminal leave.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 10-11.   Thus, LtCol Vokey was not in an attorney-client relationship with Appellant at the Article 39(a) session held seven months later in March 2009.  March 11, 2009 Article 39(a) session transcript at 2-3.  And although the severance of the attorney-client relationship that occurred upon LtCol Vokey’s commencement of terminal leave on August 6, 2008 was improper, neither the military judge nor the lower court recognized this.  In fact, neither of them recognized that a severance had even occurred.  Instead, both erroneously believed that LtCol Vokey continuously represented Appellant from his initial detailing until Appellee Judge Jones granted his request to withdraw on September 13, 2010, even though the record clearly establishes otherwise.

The second erroneous severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.) occurred on September 13, 2010.  At some unspecified point after the first severance, Appellant and LtCol Vokey (Ret.) reformed an attorney-client relationship.  But on September 13, 2010, the military judge ordered the new relationship severed when he concluded that LtCol Vokey (Ret.) had an irreconcilable conflict that prevented his further representation of Appellant.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 21; Finding of Fact 6.  The military judge, however, was mistaken.  LtCol Vokey’s conflict was not irreconcilable.  Rather, the potential limitation on LtCol Vokey’s representation of Appellant arose solely from an imputed disqualification, not an actual conflict.  See Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 14.  One simple solution to the imputed disqualification – a solution that is entirely within Appellee United States’ control – is to recall LtCol Vokey (Ret.) to active duty.  Once recalled, the imputed disqualification would vanish and LtCol Vokey could resume his representation of Appellant without limitation.  The military judge’s determination that there was an irreconcilable conflict that required LtCol Vokey’s withdrawal from the case was thus influenced by an erroneous view of the law and was, therefore, an abuse of discretion.  United States v. Miller, 66 M.J. 306, 307 (C.A.A.F. 2008). 
A.
The severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey upon LtCol Vokey’s commencement of terminal leave was erroneous


 Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey was not properly severed upon LtCol Vokey’s commencement of terminal leave on August 6, 2008.  Yet, as the record definitively establishes, LtCol Vokey stopped representing Appellant upon commencing terminal leave and did not act as Appellant’s counsel for more than seven months thereafter.  See Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 10-11; March 11, 2009 Article 39(a) session transcript at 2-3.  And the military judge who was then presiding over Appellant’s court-martial improperly presented that severance to Appellant as a fait accompli.  See March 11, 2009 Article 39(a) session transcript at 2-3.  

This Court recently observed that “R.C.M. 505(d)(2)(B) and 506(c), which provide the primary authority for severance of an attorney-client relationship, authorize four options.”  Hutchins, 69 M.J. at ___
.  None of those four options authorized a severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey upon the latter’s commencement of terminal leave.

1. 
Excusal by the detailing authority for good cause shown on the record
First, this Court explained, “The detailing authority may excuse detailed defense counsel ‘[f]or other good cause shown on the record.’  R.C.M. 505(d)(2)(B)(iii).”  Id. at __.  This Rule was not satisfied in this case for several reasons.  First, the record does not indicate that the detailing authority ever excused LtCol Vokey.  LtCol Vokey was detailed to this case by the Regional Defense Counsel Pacific, who was LtCol Simmons when LtCol Vokey was detailed.  Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 41.  While LtCol Vokey later served in the Regional Defense Counsel Pacific billet, he was no longer in that position when he commenced terminal leave in August 2008.  Rather, the record establishes that LtCol Tafoya had become the Regional Defense Counsel Pacific before that date.  Id. at 64.  The record contains no indication that LtCol Tafoya – who was then in the detailing authority’s billet – ever excused LtCol Vokey as detailed defense counsel.

Second, there was no showing of any kind on the record before Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey was severed.  LtCol Vokey testified that he never went on the record to ask to be excused before leaving active duty.  Id. at 70.  Indeed, there was no mention on the record of LtCol Vokey withdrawing from the case until after the attorney-client relationship had already been severed for more than seven months.  
A showing of good cause on the record must be made before the termination occurs to preserve the military judge’s “critical role” in the counsel excusal process.  Hutchins, 69 M.J. at ____
.  The timing matters.  The military judge’s “good cause” determination preserves the accused’s statutory and regulatory rights to detailed counsel only if it is made before the severance occurs.  The Judge Advocate General of the Navy recognized this in a comment to the Navy Rules of Professional Conduct.  JAGINST 5803.1C, Professional Conduct of Attorneys Practicing Under the Cognizance and Supervision of the Judge Advocate General (9 November 2004).  Comment (2) to Navy Rule of Professional Conduct 1.16 explains that an attorney representing an accused in a naval court-martial “shall continue such representation until properly relieved by competent authority,” and that once trial begins, that competent authority is the military judge.  Id. at R. 1.16, comment (2).  Accordingly, under R.C.M. 505(d)(2)(B)(iii), no excusal of counsel is authorized until the military judge has determined that good cause has been shown for the severance.  That did not occur here.

Third, even if retroactive determinations of good cause for severance were permissible, one did not occur here.  All that was said on the record in the first court-martial session following the severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey was that LtCol Vokey had retired.  The military judge did not determine whether that retirement constituted good cause for severance.  
Fourth, there was no good cause for severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey.  An End of Active Service date is not per se good cause for termination of an attorney-client relationship.  Hutchins, 69 M.J. at ___
 (“Our case law does not establish separation from active duty as necessarily establishing good cause in every case”).  In Hutchins, this Court observed that “[a]lthough separation from active duty normally terminates representation, highly contextual circumstances may warrant an exception from this general guidance in a particular case.”  Id. at ___.  This Court held that under the contextual circumstances of that case, the record did “not establish a valid basis for” termination of the detailed assistant defense counsel’s representation of the accused.  Id. at __.  The contextual circumstances in this case reveal that termination of representation by LtCol Vokey was even less justified than the termination of representation by Capt Bass in Hutchins.  
Like Hutchins, this case involves extremely serious charges.  And LtCol Vokey represented Appellant for a longer period before his retirement than Capt Bass had represented Sgt Hutchins before Capt Bass’s EAS.  Furthermore, LtCol Vokey’s role in Appellant’s representation was far more critical to the defense than was Capt Bass’s role in Hutchins.  LtCol Vokey was the senior detailed defense counsel while Capt Bass was merely an assistant detailed defense counsel.  And more importantly, LtCol Vokey was the only counsel on Appellant’s defense team to visit the crime scene.  This makes him comparable to Capt Provine in the Eason case, who was indispensible because he had “unique knowledge of the case which no one else on the defense team possessed,” in part because he was in Vietnam where the offenses allegedly occurred and the civilian defense counsel had “never journeyed to Vietnam.”  United States v. Eason, 21 C.M.A. 335, 339, 45 C.M.R. 109, 113 (1971).  Indeed, Appellee Judge Jones himself noted the significance of LtCol Vokey’s visit with Appellant to the scene of the alleged offenses.  See Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 12.

Nor can good cause be found in the government’s refusal to grant LtCol Vokey further extensions to his retirement date.  Any argument that the manpower needs of the Marine Corps prevented LtCol Vokey’s continued service and thereby provided good cause for severance is disingenuous.  Both LtCol Vokey and Appellant wanted to delay LtCol Vokey’s retirement to allow him to continue his representation.  And in stark contrast to Col Redmon’s refusal to grant LtCol Vokey a further extension of his retirement request to continue representing Appellant, the Marine Corps took the highly unusual — and potentially costly — step of extending the reservist trial counsel’s time on active duty.  This placed him in a “sanctuary” status from which he could then complete 20 years of active service and qualify for an active duty pension.  See Sept. 13 Article 39(a) session at 22-27.  The military judge even found as fact that allowing the reservist trial counsel to reach sanctuary status was designed, in part, to allow him to continue representing the United States in this case.  Finding of Fact 12.  The Government took similar steps to ensure that the other trial counsel remained on the case as well.  His tour at his duty station was extended beyond the normal length, allowing him to continue to represent the United States here.  Finding of Fact 13.  Thus, the United States exercised its authority in unusual — and potentially costly — ways to promote its own continuity of counsel, but refused to do a routine retirement extension to preserve Appellant’s continuity of counsel. 

Accordingly, good cause was not shown on the record to allow LtCol Vokey to withdraw from the case upon commencing terminal leave.  

2. 
Excusal of defense counsel with the express consent of the accused


This is not a case where excusal occurred with the express consent of the accused pursuant to R.C.M. 506(c).  See Hutchins, 69 M.J. at ___
.  On the contrary, LtCol Vokey testified that Appellant had never excused him from further representation.  Sept. 13 Article 39(a) session transcript at 70.
3. 
Application for withdrawal by the defense counsel for good cause

LtCol Vokey did not apply to the military judge to be allowed to withdraw for good cause shown under R.C.M. 506(c) before departing on terminal leave.  Accordingly, severance of the attorney-client relationship was not authorized under that rule.  See Hutchins, 69 M.J at ___.

4. 
Excusal upon appointment of individual military counsel
Finally, Appellant’s loss of LtCol Vokey’s representation did not occur upon a granted request for individual military counsel.  See Hutchins, 69 M.J. at __.

Since the severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey that resulted from LtCol Vokey’s commencement of terminal leave was not authorized by any of the permissible bases, that severance was legally erroneous.
  And as in Hutchins, the military judge presiding over the case when LtCol Vokey began his terminal leave (who was the same military judge as in Hutchins) failed his duty to ensure that the record reflected good cause for the detailed defense counsel’s withdrawal and that the accused was properly advised concerning his right to object to that counsel’s withdrawal.
Then, after replacing Judge Meeks, Appellee Judge Jones failed to recognize that Appellant was erroneously deprived of his attorney-client relationship with Appellant in August 2008 because he erroneously concluded that no such severance had occurred.  Judge Jones found as fact that “[u]pon retirement, Mr. Vokey continued to maintain an attorney-client relationship with the accused and represented him in subsequent hearings . . . .”  Appendix to Appellant’s Writ Appeal Petition at Tab E, Finding 4.  That is clearly erroneous.  The Navy-Marine Corps Court repeated the military judge’s error, indicating in its opinion that “Mr. F and Mr. V both left active duty at their own request, but each maintained an attorney-client relationship with the petitioner until Mr. V’s conflict became apparent.”  Wuterich v. Jones, No. NMCCA 200800183, slip op. at 3 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. Jan. 7, 2011).  As established above, the Navy-Marine Corps Court’s belief that LtCol Vokey (Ret.) “maintained an attorney-client relationship with [Appellant] until [LtCol Vokey’s] conflict became apparent” is incorrect.  In reality, a break in representation that lasted more than seven months occurred upon LtCol Vokey’s commencement of terminal leave.
This Court should therefore declare that Appellant was denied his right to continued representation by LtCol Vokey from August 6, 2008 until an undetermined point after March 11, 2009.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a) (2006).  That legal error is inextricably intertwined with the second severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey that Appellee Judge Jones ordered on September 13, 2010 — LtCol Vokey entered into civilian employment during the seven-month break in representation.  And it was this employment that led Appellee Judge Jones to (erroneously) hold that LtCol Vokey has an irreconcilable conflict preventing him from representing Appellant.  If that second erroneous severance is not cured by restoration of the attorney-client relationship between Appellant and LtCol Vokey (Ret.), an independent remedy would be necessary for the improper severance of the attorney-client relationship that occurred on August 6, 2008.
B.
The military judge’s order severing Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey on September 13, 2010 was erroneous

A second erroneous severance of Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.) occurred on September 13, 2010.  On that date, the military judge granted LtCol Vokey’s request to withdraw, thereby severing the Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with him.  The military judge granted the withdrawal because he perceived an irreconcilable conflict that prevented LtCol Vokey from continuing to represent Appellant.  The military judge’s characterization of the conflict as irreconcilable, however, was legally erroneous.  And that error led the military judge to improperly order Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with Appellant severed rather than taking appropriate action to preserve the attorney-client relationship, as dictated by this Court’s precedent.  See, e.g., United States v. Iverson, 5 M.J. 440, 442-43 (C.M.A. 1978) (“Absent a truly extraordinary circumstance rendering virtually impossible the continuation of the established relationship, only the accused may terminate the existing affiliation with his trial defense counsel prior to the case reaching the appellate level.”).
The record establishes that the conflict that currently affects LtCol Vokey’s representation of Appellant is solely an imputed disqualification arising from his law firm’s former representation of Sgt Salinas.  See Sept. 13, 2010 Article 39(a) session transcript at 14.  There is no actual conflict that limits LtCol Vokey’s representation of Appellant.  On the contrary, the firm screened off LtCol Vokey from the Salinas case, thereby ensuring that no actual conflict could develop.  Id.  
If LtCol Vokey were on active duty, there would be no limitation on his representation of Appellant.  The Navy Rules of Professional Conduct reject a per se imputed disqualification bar to representation by Marine Corps and Navy judge advocates.  See Navy Rule of Professional Conduct 1.10.  Once Lt Col Vokey is returned to active duty, the Navy Rules would govern his conduct and allow him to represent Appellant without limitation.  See Navy Rule of Professional Conduct 8.5, comment (2) (“When covered USG attorneys are engaged in the conduct of Navy or Marine Corps legal functions, whether serving the Navy or Marine Corps as a client or serving an individual client as authorized by the Navy or Marine Corps, these Rules supersede any conflicting rules applicable in jurisdictions in which the covered attorney may be licensed.”).  
Appellee United States has the legal authority to return LtCol Vokey to active duty.  10 U.S.C. § 688 permits the Secretary of the Navy, under regulations prescribed by the Secretary of Defense, to order a retired member to active duty.  The Secretary of Defense, in turn, has provided the Service Secretaries with broad authority to recall retired members to active duty.  See Dep’t of Def Directive 1352.1 (16 July 2005).  It is, therefore, completely within the power of Appellee United States to restore Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.) by recalling him to active duty.
Appellee Judge Jones thus erred in concluding that LtCol Vokey was under an “irreconcilable conflict” that prevents him from continuing to represent Appellant.  LtCol Vokey’s conflict can be reconciled simply by recalling LtCol Vokey to active duty.  And the Government has that power.  If it were to use it, LtCol Vokey would be freed from the imputed conflict, thereby allowing Appellant to restore his attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey.

Requiring the United States to exercise its authority to return LtCol Vokey to active duty would be particularly appropriate in this case, where the United States took extraordinary steps to promote its own continuity of counsel.  
Finally, to the extent that possible adverse effects on LtCol Vokey’s civilian employment should be considered in determining whether good cause existed to terminate his attorney-client relationship with Appellant, he would be statutorily protected from any such adverse effects if he were to be recalled to active duty.  See 38 U.S.C. § 4311 (2006) (“A person who is a member of, applies to be a member of, performs, has performed, applies to perform, or has an obligation to perform service in a uniformed service shall not be denied initial employment, reemployment, retention in employment, promotion, or any benefit of employment by an employer on the basis of that membership, application for membership, performance of service, application for service, or obligation.”).  To the extent that the military judge’s ruling severing Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey was influenced by a concern over adverse effects on LtCol Vokey’s career, that influence was predicated on an erroneous view of the law, which constituted an abuse of the military judge’s discretion.
The military judge’s decision to allow LtCol Vokey to withdraw from this case and his rejection of Appellant’s challenge to his ongoing prosecution without LtCol Vokey’s representation were legally flawed.  This Court should cure those flaws by declaring that Appellant’s right to continued representation by LtCol Vokey was violated twice – first upon the severance that occurred when LtCol Vokey commenced terminal leave on August 6, 2008, and again when the military judge granted LtCol Vokey’s motion to withdraw on September 13, 2010.
This Court should order court-martial proceedings abated until the United States returns LtCol Vokey to Appellant’s defense team.  There is no need to tell the United States precisely how it should restore Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.).  The United States has shown itself perfectly capable of taking extraordinary steps to ensure that counsel are on active duty in Southern California to try this case when the United States considers it in its interest to do so.  Abating proceedings until LtCol Vokey is returned to the defense team would, no doubt, result in the United States protecting Appellant’s rights with the same sort of vigor with which it has promoted its own continuity of counsel. 

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, as well as those set out in Appellant’s original writ appeal, this Court should declare that Appellant’s right to continued representation by Appellant was violated and order proceedings abated until Appellee United States restores Appellant’s attorney-client relationship with LtCol Vokey (Ret.).




Respectfully submitted,

Dwight H. Sullivan, Colonel, USMCR
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Counsel for Appellant
� The original writ appeal petition provided an erroneous middle initial for Judge Jones.  Counsel apologize for the error.


� Wuterich v. Jones, No. NMCCA 200800183 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App. Jan. 7, 2011) [Appendix].





� This motion also challenged Maj Faraj’s release from active duty.  While Appellant continues to object that Maj Faraj was improperly released from active duty, that challenge was not advanced by Appellant’s petition for writ of mandamus before the lower court and is not part of this writ appeal.  Unlike LtCol Vokey, Maj Faraj has provided continuous representation to Appellant upon and following his retirement from the Marine Corps.


� While the Government’s opposition is the 97th Appellate Exhibit, it is misnumbered as Appellate Exhibit CVCII.





�The ROT contains conflicting dates on when LtCol Vokey was detailed.  Sometimes it indicates January 2007, sometimes January 2006.  I’m making the assumption here that the actual date is January 2007.  Maj Sip, can you please get verification of the correct date and adjust this if necessary?
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